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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

COUNTY OF GEORGETOWN 

The Gulfstream Café, Inc., 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Georgetown County, Georgetown County 
Council, John Thomas, Ron Charlton, Lillie 
Johnson, Austin Beard, Steve Goggans, and 
Louis Morant, individually and in their 
official capacity as Georgetown County 
Councilmembers, 

Defendants. 

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS 
FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
DOCKET NO.:

SUMMONS 

TO: THE ABOVE-NAMED DEFENDANTS 

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED and required to answer the Complaint in this action, 

of with a copy is herewith served upon you, and to serve a copy of your Answer to the said 

Complaint on the subscribers at their office at Rogers Townsend & Thomas PC, 1221 Main Street, 

14th Floor, Columbia, SC 29201, and to file your Answer with the Clerk of Court for Georgetown 

County, all within thirty (30) days after service hereof; exclusive of the day of such service; and if 

you fail to answer the Complaint within the time aforesaid, the Plaintiff in this action will apply to 

the Court for judgment by default for the relief demanded in the Complaint and a judgment will 

be rendered against you. 

s/ Sean M. Foerster 
Sean M. Foerster (SC Bar # 77466) 
ROGERS TOWNSEND & THOMAS, PC 
1221 Main Street, 14th Floor (29201) 
Post Office Box 100200 
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-3200 
(803) 771-7900 Tel
(803) 343-7017 Fax
sean.foerster@rtt-law.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff The Gulfstream Café, Inc. 
March 8, 2019 
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

COUNTY OF GEORGETOWN 

The Gulfstream Café, Inc., 

Plaintiff, 
v. 

Georgetown County, Georgetown County 
Council, John Thomas, Ron Charlton, Lillie 
Johnson, Austin Beard, Steve Goggans, and 
Louis Morant, individually and in their official 
capacity as Georgetown County 
Councilmembers; 

Defendants. 

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS 
FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
DOCKET NO.:  

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff The Gulfstream Café, Inc. (“Gulfstream”) files this Complaint against 

Georgetown County (the “County”), the Georgetown County Council (the “Council”), and John 

Thomas, Ron Charlton, Lillie Johnson, Austin Beard, Steve Goggans, and Louis Morant, 

individually, and in their official capacity as members of the Georgetown County Council 

(collectively with the County and the Council, “Defendants”).  In support of this complaint, 

Gulfstream shows the Court as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This complaint seeks relief from the malicious, arbitrary, and capricious acts of 

Georgetown County, its Council, and John Thomas, Ron Charlton, Lillie Johnson, Austin Beard, 

Steve Goggans and Louis Morant, who improperly advocated for and/or approved a major 

amendment to the Marlin Quay Planned Unit Development in direct contravention of the 

Georgetown County Zoning Ordinance, South Carolina law, and the United States Constitution.   

2. Gulfstream has owned property and operated a restaurant at Marlin Quay for more 

than 30 years, and during that time Gulfstream has held a perpetual easement for parking.  

Defendants have recently approved an amendment to the Marlin Quay PUD to permit Palmetto 

Industrial Development, LLC (“Palmetto”) to construct a new building that is grossly larger than 

any prior structure.  That approval will result in a building that will greatly overburden the parking 
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2 

lot at Marlin Quay, will negatively impact the public health, safety, and welfare of the area, and 

will substantially reduce the value of Gulfstream’s property. 

3. The approval of the major amendment by Defendants was fundamentally flawed—

Defendants failed to follow the procedural requirements for a major amendment; and Defendants 

acted arbitrarily and capriciously in ignoring substantive requirements of the Georgetown County 

Zoning Ordinance that were brought to Defendants’ attention during the rezoning process. 

4. As a result, Defendants’ action is void, violates Gulfstream’s due process rights, 

and represents a taking of Gulfstream’s property. 

5. Gulfstream is a corporation existing, organized, and doing business in Georgetown 

County, within the State of South Carolina.  

6. Gulfstream is an owner of adjoining land, and as such Gulfstream has standing to 

challenge the major amendment approved for Palmetto’s property pursuant to S.C. Code § 6-29-

760. 

7. Georgetown County is a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina.  It is 

capable of being sued.  The County enacted the Major Amendment at issue in this case.  The 

County may be served with process by service upon its chief executive officer or clerk. 

8. The County is subject to the jurisdiction of this Court. 

9. The Council is a public body elected by the residents of Georgetown County and is 

empowered to alter or amend the Georgetown County Zoning Ordinance (the “Zoning 

Ordinance”).  The Council may be served with process by service upon its Chairman. 

10. The Council is subject to the jurisdiction of this Court. 

11. John Thomas, Ron Charlton, Lillie Johnson, Austin Beard, and Louis Morant are 

members of the County Council who heard and decided Palmetto’s application for major 

amendment.  The Council Members may be served with process at their places of residence. 

12. Steve Goggans is a member of the County Council who designed the building that 

is the subject of Palmetto’s application for major amendment and who advocated for the approval 

of the building and other iterations of the same project.  Mr. Goggans may be served with process 

at his place of residence. 

13. Venue is proper in this Court as to Defendants. 

14. At all times relevant to this Complaint and in taking the actions described herein, 

Defendants acted under color of law. 
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

A. The History of the Marlin Quay PUD and Gulfstream’s Easement. 

15. The Marlin Quay PUD is located in Garden City and is the location of the 

Gulfstream Café.  The Marlin Quay PUD is a planned development containing several specified 

uses, including condominiums, a marina store, and a restaurant.   (True and correct copies of the 

Marlin Quay PUD documents are attached hereto and incorporated herein verbatim as Exhibit 1). 

16. The property owned by Gulfstream is designated in the PUD documents as a 

restaurant.  Consistent with that designation, the Gulfstream Café has been operating as a 

restaurant at Marlin Quay for over 30 years. 

17. The property adjacent to Gulfstream is designated in the PUD documents as a 

parking lot and a marina store.   Consistent with that designation, the parking lot and marina store 

were operated at Marlin Quay for nearly 30 years.   

18. The property adjacent to Gulfstream is currently owned by Palmetto Industrial 

Development, LLC, which acquired it in 2014. 

19. Gulfstream is a fine dining restaurant that is primarily open during the evening 

hours.   

20. The marina store was primarily a daytime operation.  The marina store did not 

contain a full-service kitchen, and it did not serve dinner.  (Image of Marina Store attached hereto 

and incorporated herein verbatim as Exhibit 2). 

21. During its entire existence, Gulfstream has held an easement permitting it to use 

the parking lot adjacent to its restaurant.   

22. On February 25, 1986, The Marlin Quay Marina Corporation, which at the time 

owned the parking lot property and the marina store, expressly granted three (3) non-exclusive 

appurtenant easements to utilize the Parking Lot to Gulfstream, its Successors and Assigns, each 

of which was publicly recorded in Georgetown County Deed Book 234 at Pages 790, 797, and 

803.  (attached hereto and incorporated herein verbatim as Exhibit 3).    

23. In 1990, the Marlin Quay Marina Corporation again expressly granted and 

conveyed a perpetual non-exclusive easement for the use of the Parking Lot to Gulfstream, its 

successors and assigns, as set forth in that certain Agreement of Easement and Consent to and 
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4 

Joinder of Mortgagee to Granting of Easement (the “1990 Easement”)1 publicly filed with 

Georgetown County in Deed Book 382, Pages 217 to 226 (attached hereto and incorporated herein 

verbatim as Exhibit 4). 

24. The 1990 Easement expressly provides that The Gulfstream Café perpetually and 

currently enjoys the following rights:   

…non-exclusive perpetual easement from Marlin Quay Marina Corporation to The 
Gulfstream Café, Inc. for the purpose of ingress and egress and vehicular parking 
on, over and across that certain real property of Marlin Quay Marina Corporation, 
which is more fully described herein below, by owners, agents, employees, 
servants, visitors, guests and invitees of The Gulfstream Café, Inc.  

. . . . 

Marlin Quay Marina Corporation, … (the “Grantor”), has granted, bargained, sold 
and released, and by these presents does grant, bargain, sell and release unto The 
Gulfstream Café, Inc., its successors and assigns (the “Grantee”) a non-exclusive 
perpetual easement appurtenant to the premises of the Grantee hereinafter described 
for the full and free right of ingress and egress on, over and across the following 
described property of the Grantor, together with the rights of vehicular parking on 
and vehicular and pedestrian access to, all in accordance with all governmental 
rules, regulations, ordinances or laws, the premises of the Grantor hereinafter 
described, and also for the purpose of maintenance, repair, alteration and/or 
improvements to the Grantee’s hereinafter described property.  It is anticipated by 
the parties that while they will each have joint and non-exclusive use at all times
of the area covered by this easement that the Grantor will utilize the premises 
primarily during the daytime regular business hours of Grantor and the Grantee will 
utilize the premises primarily in the evening regular business hours of Grantee.  
(emphasis added).  

25. Consistent with the easement, Gulfstream shared the parking lot with the Marlin 

Quay marina store.  The marina store used the parking lot during its daytime regular business 

hours, and Gulfstream used the parking lot during its evening regular business hours. 

26. In 2014, Palmetto purchased the Marlin Quay Marina subject to the restrictions of 

the Marlin Quay PUD and subject to Gulfstream’s perpetual easement rights to utilize the Parking 

Lot.  

                                                 
1 The easements are referred to collectively herein as the “Gulfstream Easement.” 
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B. Palmetto Seeks a Major Amendment to the Marlin Quay PUD. 

27. In late 2016, Palmetto demolished its marina store and embarked upon a plan to 

construct a much larger building. 

28. Defendant Goggans was hired by Palmetto to design this new building in part 

because of Defendant Goggans’s position of influence as a Georgetown County Councilman. 

29. The first two versions of Palmetto’s proposed building were known as Versions 1.0 

and 2.0 and were designed by Defendant Goggans.  Mr. Goggans advocated on behalf of Palmetto 

to secure approval of Version 1.0 as a minor amendment to the Marlin Quay PUD, and upon 

information and belief, Mr. Goggans was similarly involved in Palmetto’s efforts to secure 

approval for Version 2.0. 

30. Palmetto submitted an application for a major amendment to the Marlin Quay PUD 

in order to build Version 2.0, and that application was approved by the County on February 27, 

2018.  (Drawings of Versions 1.0 & 2.0 attached hereto and incorporated herein verbatim as 

Exhibits 5 and 6, respectfully). 

31. Palmetto’s plans for Versions 1.0 and 2.0 were challenged by Gulfstream in the 

action captioned The Gulfstream Café, Inc. v. J. Mark Lawhon, Individually, and Palmetto 

Industrial Development, LLC, C.A. No. 2016-CP-22-00961.  Gulfstream prevailed in that action, 

and the Court issued a permanent injunction barring Palmetto from constructing a building on any 

portion of the property subject to the Gulfstream Easement.   (Permanent Injunction attached hereto 

and incorporated herein verbatim as Exhibit 7). 

32. Following issuance of the permanent injunction, Palmetto apparently abandoned its 

plan to build Version 1.o or Version 2.0. 

33. In August 2018, Palmetto commenced plans for another proposed building, known 

as Version 3.0.  As with the prior proposals, Version 3.0 was designed by Defendant Goggans and 

his architecture firm, SGA Architecture.  

34. On August 27, 2018, Palmetto submitted an application to the Georgetown County 

Planning Department for approval of Version 3.0 as a major amendment to the Marlin Quay PUD.  

(Application for Version 3.0 attached hereto and incorporated herein verbatim as Exhibit 8). 

35. Palmetto’s application for Version 3.0 was its second request for a zoning 

amendment in a 12 month period.  Section 1702.1 of the Zoning Ordinance prohibits an applicant 

from seeking to amend the ordinance twice in a single year for the same parcel of property. 
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36. There are more than 300 property owners within a 400 foot radius of the Marlin 

Quay marina property.  Upon information and belief, when Palmetto submitted its application for 

approval of Version 3.0 as a major amendment, it did not provide required notice to these affected 

property owners as required by Section 1702.206 of the Georgetown County Zoning Ordinance.  

Further, Palmetto failed to submit the letters it sent to nearby property owners, as required by 

Section 1702.206 of the Ordinance. 

37. When it was submitted, Palmetto’s application for major amendment for Version 

3.0 did not contain any drawings, sketches, or other data regarding the nature of the proposed 

amendment.   

38. Palmetto supplemented its application for approval of Version 3.0 to include 

limited drawings and plans of its proposed building less than two weeks before the application was 

heard by the Georgetown County Planning Commission.  Accordingly, Palmetto’s application 

violated Section 1702.01 of the Zoning Ordinance, which requires that an application to amend 

the Zoning Ordinance be submitted in proper form 45 days before it is heard by the Planning 

Commission. 

39. Even once supplemented, Palmetto’s application for approval of Version 3.0 did 

not contain critical information, including data regarding the number of parking spaces required 

by the proposed building.  (Drawings and sketches of Version 3.0 attached hereto and incorporated 

herein verbatim as Exhibit 9). 

40. Palmetto’s supplemented application showed that Version 3.0 would be a more than 

9,000 square foot building, with an occupancy limit of 359 people.  (Exhibit 9). 

41. By contrast, the marina store that Palmetto demolished was much smaller.  It had 

approximately 4,000 square feet, approximately 70 seats, and did not have a full service kitchen. 

42. Version 3.0, if constructed, would contain a full-service restaurant that would be 

open at night.  The building would also house multiple large bars, and would cater to a clientele 

interested in night life.  The proposed use of Palmetto’s property as a restaurant is not permitted 

by the Marlin Quay PUD. 

43. Version 3.0, if constructed, would require 51 parking spaces pursuant to Section 

1102.1 of the Zoning Ordinance.  Gulfstream is required to have 47 parking spaces under Section 

1102.1.  The Marlin Quay Marina requires 22 parking spaces. 
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44. There are only 62 parking spaces in the parking lot, meaning that there are not 

enough spaces for all uses.  Moreover, because Palmetto’s proposed building would contain a 

restaurant and bars that are open at night, it is not possible to share the parking spaces pursuant to 

Section 1102.3 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

C. The Planning Commission Approved Palmetto’s Application for a Major 
Amendment, Ignoring the Procedural and Substantive Defects in That 
Application. 

45. Palmetto’s application for a major amendment to allow construction of Version 3.0 

was heard by the Georgetown Planning Commission on October 18, 2018.  At that hearing, counsel 

for Gulfstream explained the procedural and substantive defects with the application. 

46. Neither the applicant nor planning staff addressed the impact of Palmetto’s 

proposed building on the shared parking lot. 

47. Despite being presented with evidence of the defects in Palmetto’s application, the 

Planning Commission recommended approval of the requested major amendment. 

48. Members of the planning commission are appointed by the Georgetown County 

Council, including Defendant Goggans.   

49. Upon information and belief, Defendant Goggans, consistent with his actions on 

prior applications by Palmetto, advocated on behalf of his client for approval of Version 3.0 by the 

Planning Commission. 

50. Upon information and belief, members of the Planning Commission were 

influenced to vote in favor of Palmetto’s application because of Defendant Goggans’s role as 

architect for Palmetto. 

D. The County Council Approved Palmetto’s Application for a Major Amendment, 
Ignoring the Procedural and Substantive Defects in That Application. 

51. The Georgetown County Council held three readings of Palmetto’s application for 

major amendment. 

52. On December 11, 2018, the Georgetown County Council held a second reading of 

Palmetto’s application for a major amendment.  At that hearing, counsel for Gulfstream again 

explained the procedural and substantive defects with the application. 
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53. Counsel for Gulfstream also provided the County Council with a position paper 

outlining the defects with Palmetto’s application.  (Gulfstream’s Position Paper attached hereto 

and incorporated herein verbatim as Exhibit 10). 

54. Numerous members of the public attended the December 11 meeting to express 

their opposition to the proposed major amendment.  More than a dozen individuals expressed 

concern that Version 3.0 would cause significant problems with parking and traffic in the Marlin 

Quay area. 

55. Neither counsel for the applicant nor anyone who spoke in favor of Palmetto’s 

application addressed the impact that Version 3.0 would have on the parking situation at Marlin 

Quay. 

56. Despite being presented with numerous procedural and substantive defects in 

Palmetto’s application, along with significant community opposition to the proposal, the 

Georgetown County Council approved the second reading of Palmetto’s application for major 

amendment. 

57. Palmetto’s application for major amendment received final approval from the 

Georgetown County Council on January 8, 2019.  (The January 8, 2019 Ordinance approving 

Version 3.0 is attached hereto and incorporated herein verbatim as Exhibit 11). 

58. Upon information and belief, Defendant Goggans, consistent with his actions on 

prior applications by Palmetto, advocated on behalf of his client for approval of Version 3.0 by his 

fellow County Council members. 

59. Upon information and belief, members of the County Council were influenced to 

vote in favor of Palmetto’s application because of Defendant Goggans’s role as architect for 

Palmetto. 

E. The Council’s Action Exceeded the Council’s Authority and Violated 
Gulfstream’s Constitutional Rights. 

60. Defendants acted arbitrarily and capriciously in advocating for and/or approving 

Palmetto’s application for major amendment to construct Version 3.0 

61. Highlighting the arbitrary and capricious nature of Defendants’ action is the fact 

that Defendants wholly failed to consider the impact of Version 3.0 on the parking situation at 

Marlin Quay despite the evidence presented by Gulfstream and numerous community members. 
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62. Defendants failed to follow the requirements of the Georgetown County Zoning 

Ordinance in approving Palmetto’s application for major amendment to construct Version 3.0. 

63. For example, Defendants failed to consider the requirements for a major 

amendment contained in the Georgetown County Zoning Ordinance, namely whether the public 

necessity, convenience, general welfare or good zoning practice supported Palmetto’s application. 

64. Additionally, the Zoning Ordinance does not permit an applicant to submit two 

applications for zoning amendments for the same parcel of property in a 12-month period.  

Likewise, the Zoning Ordinance has multiple restrictions regarding the timing of applications and 

notice required to be provided to nearby property owners, which requirements were not followed. 

65. As a result of Defendants’ approval of Palmetto’s application for major 

amendment, the value of Gulfstream’s property has been reduced. 

66. Because of Defendants’ actions, Palmetto will be permitted to construct Version 

3.0, which is substantially larger than its previous building, contains a full-size commercial 

kitchen, and will be open as a restaurant and serving dinner in the evening with a focus on night 

life. 

67. The parking lot at Marlin Quay cannot support this new operation along with 

Gulfstream’s existing business.  Gulfstream requires sufficient parking in order to operate. 

68. If Palmetto is allowed to proceed, Gulfstream will be unable to continue operating 

its restaurant because of the catastrophic parking situation.  Given that Gulfstream’s property may 

only be used as a restaurant pursuant to the PUD, Gulfstream’s property will lose all value. 

69. Defendants’ action in approving Palmetto’s application for major amendment to 

build Version 3.0 constitutes a taking for which compensation is constitutionally mandated. 

70. In advocating for and/or approving Palmetto’s Application for major amendment, 

Defendants made a decision that was specific in nature and impacted Gulfstream individually, 

rather than the general public. 

COUNT I 
Declaratory Judgment – Approval of Palmetto’s Application for Major Amendment Is 

Invalid. 

71. Paragraphs 1 through 70 are hereby incorporated by reference as if rewritten in their 

entirety. 

72. Palmetto submitted an application for a major amendment to the Marlin Quay PUD 

in order to construct Version 3.0. 
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73. Defendant Goggans advocated for approval of Palmetto’s application and the 

remaining Defendants approved Palmetto’s application. 

74. The approval of Palmetto’s application constitutes a taking of Gulfstream’s 

property.  Version 3.0 is substantially larger than the prior marina store, will contain a full-service 

kitchen, and will include a restaurant that serves dinner during the evening.  The demand for 

parking in the evening caused by Version 3.0 will undermine Gulfstream’s property rights by 

making it impossible for Gulfstream to operate its restaurant.   

75. The approval of Palmetto’s application violates Gulfstream’s rights to substantive 

due process in that its passage was arbitrary, capricious, and bore no rational relationship to any 

legitimate state interest and provides no benefit to public health, safety, or welfare. 

76. The approval of Palmetto’s application violates Gulfstream’s rights to procedural 

due process.  The passage of that application failed to prove sufficient notice and hearing to 

affected property owners and was contrary to Defendants’ constitutional authority to impose 

zoning restrictions on real property, and is null, void and of no force and effect. 

77. Pursuant to the provisions of S.C. Code § 15-53-10 et seq., Gulfstream asks that 

this Court declare the passage of Palmetto’s application for major amendment to be null, void and 

of no force and effect. 

COUNT II 
Violation of Substantive Due Process Rights – Article I Section 3 of the South Carolina 

Constitution 

78. Paragraphs 1 through 77 are hereby incorporated by reference as if rewritten in their 

entirety. 

79. Article I, Section 3 of the South Carolina Constitution provides that no person shall 

“be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law.” 

80. Under this provision, Gulfstream has protected property rights to use its property 

as a restaurant, as permitted by the Marlin Quay PUD.  Gulfstream also possesses property rights 

in its Easement.   

81. Defendants deprived Gulfstream of its Property rights by advocating for and/or 

approving Palmetto’s application for major amendment, which prevents Gulfstream from fully 

enjoying its property rights. 

82. Defendants’ actions were arbitrary, capricious, without rational basis, and has no 

substantial relationship to the public health, safety, morals, or general welfare. 
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83. Examples of Defendants’ arbitrary and capricious conduct include the fact that 

Defendants wholly failed to consider the impact of Version 3.0 on the parking lot despite the fact 

that Gulfstream and multiple community members explained that construction of the building 

would cause serious parking problems.   

Defendants’ actions therefore violate Article I, Section 3 of the South Carolina 

Constitution. 

84. As a result, Gulfstream prays for declaratory relief and damages. 

COUNT III 
Relief Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for Violation of Right to Substantive Due Process  – United 

States Constitution 

85. Paragraphs 1 through 84 are hereby incorporated by reference as if rewritten in their 

entirety. 

86. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees the right 

to due process under the law. 

87. 42 U.S.C. § 1983 provides a cause of action for violation of the right to due process 

under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

88. Under this provision, Gulfstream has protected property rights to use its property 

as a restaurant, as permitted by the Marlin Quay PUD.  Gulfstream also possesses property rights 

in its Easement.   

89. Defendants acted under the color of state law in depriving Gulfstream of its 

constitutionally guaranteed right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution. 

90. Specifically, Defendants advocated for and/or approved Palmetto’s application for 

major amendment, which permits construction of Version 3.0.  That building will significantly 

overburden the parking lot at Marlin Quay and will undermine Gulfstream’s property rights. 

91. Defendants’ actions were arbitrary, capricious, without any rational basis, and had 

no substantial relationship to the public health, safety, morals, or general welfare. 

92. Defendants’ actions as alleged herein are a denial of substantive due process 

afforded to Gulfstream in violation of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to 

the Constitution of the United States of America. 

93. As a result, Gulfstream prays for declaratory relief and damages against 

Defendants. 
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COUNT IV 
Violation of Right to Procedural Due Process – Article I Section 3 South Carolina 

Constitution 

94. Paragraphs 1 through 93 are hereby incorporated by reference as if rewritten in their 

entirety. 

95. Article I, Section 3 of the South Carolina Constitution provides that no person shall 

“be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law.” 

96. Gulfstream possesses property rights to operate a restaurant pursuant to the terms 

of the Marlin Quay PUD.  Gulfstream also possesses property rights in its Easement.  Gulfstream 

can only be deprived of its Property rights where the appropriate procedure is followed. 

97. S.C. Code § 6-29-710 et seq. and the Georgetown County Zoning Ordinance 

prescribe the procedures that must be followed to amend the zoning ordinance. 

98. The Zoning Ordinance does not permit the Council to consider an application for 

amendment to the zoning ordinance where the application fails to follow procedural requirements. 

99. Palmetto’s application for major amendment contained numerous procedural 

defects, including but not limited to: 

Palmetto’s application for Version 3.0 represented the second application by Palmetto 

for the same parcel of property during a 12-month period. 

Palmetto failed to submit its application in proper form 45 days prior to that application 

being considered by the Planning Commission. 

Palmetto failed to provide notice to all property owners located within 400 feet of the 

impacted property. 

Palmetto failed to submit letters it sent to nearby property owners notifying them of the 

application for major amendment. 

100. When they advocated for and/or approved Palmetto’s application for major 

amendment, Defendants deprived Gulfstream of its procedural due process rights by ignoring 

numerous procedural safeguards contained in the Georgetown County Zoning Ordinance. 

101. Defendants’ action denied Gulfstream and other property owners meaningful notice 

and opportunity to be heard. 
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102. Based on the above, the process of approval of Palmetto’s application for major 

amendment was fundamentally unfair and constitutionally inadequate.  Accordingly, Defendants’ 

action violates Article I, Section 3 of the South Carolina Constitution. 

103. As a result, Gulfstream prays for declaratory relief and damages. 

COUNT V 
Relief Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for Violation of Right to Procedural Due Process  – United 

States Constitution 

104. Paragraphs 1 through 103 are hereby incorporated by reference as if rewritten in 

their entirety. 

105. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees that no 

state may deny any person of property without due process of law. 

106. Gulfstream has a protected property right to use its property as a restaurant, as 

permitted by the Marlin Quay PUD.  Gulfstream also possesses a property right in its Easement. 

107. Defendants’ course of conduct in advocating for and/or approving Palmetto’s 

application for major amendment deprived Gulfstream of its property rights. 

108. S.C. Code § 6-29-706 and the Georgetown County Zoning Ordinance prescribe the 

procedures that must be followed to amend the zoning ordinance. 

109. The Zoning Ordinance does not permit the Council to consider an application for 

amendment to the zoning ordinance where the application fails to follow procedural requirements. 

110. Palmetto’s application for major amendment contained numerous procedural 

defects, including but not limited to: 

Palmetto’s application for Version 3.0 represented the second application by Palmetto 

for the same parcel of property during a 12-month period. 

Palmetto failed to submit its application in proper form 45 days prior to that application 

being considered by the Planning Commission. 

Palmetto failed to provide notice to all property owners located within 400 feet of the 

impacted property. 

Palmetto failed to submit letters it sent to nearby property owners notifying them of the 

application for major amendment. 
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111. When they advocated for and/or approved Palmetto’s application for major 

amendment, Defendants deprived Gulfstream of its procedural due process rights by ignoring 

numerous procedural safeguards contained in the Georgetown County Zoning Ordinance. 

112. Defendants’ action denied Gulfstream and other property owners meaningful notice 

and opportunity to be heard. 

113. Based on the above, the process of approval of Palmetto’s application for major 

amendment was fundamentally unfair and constitutionally inadequate.  Accordingly, Defendants’ 

action violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the 

United States of America. 

114. As a result, Gulfstream prays for declaratory relief and damages against 

Defendants. 

COUNT VI 
Violation of South Carolina’s Taking Clause – Article I, Section 13 of the South Carolina 

Constitution 

115. Paragraphs 1 through 114 are hereby incorporated by reference as if rewritten in 

their entirety. 

116. Article I Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution provides that “private 

property shall not be taken for private use without the consent of the owner, nor for public use 

without just compensation being first made for the property.” 

117. Gulfstream possesses a property right to use its property as a restaurant, pursuant 

to the Marlin Quay PUD.  Gulfstream also possesses a property right under its Easement to full 

and free ingress, egress, and vehicular parking at the parking lot, primarily during its regular 

evening business hours. 

118. The approval of Palmetto’s application for major amendment constitutes a taking 

of Gulfstream’s property without just compensation.   

119. Defendants’ action in advocating for and/or approving Palmetto’s application will 

result in the construction of Version 3.0, which will grossly overburden the parking lot, particularly 

during the evening hours.  Without parking, Gulfstream will not be able to operate a restaurant and 

will not enjoy the rights granted to it in the Easement.  Because Gulfstream may only use its 

property as a restaurant, the approval of Palmetto’s application for major amendment therefore 

deprives Gulfstream of all economically viable use of its property. 
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120. Gulfstream is entitled to just compensation for the taking of its property. This 

takings claim includes an “England Reservation” of Gulfstream’s right to bring a takings claim in 

Federal Court. 

COUNT VII 
Inverse Condemnation  

121. Paragraphs 1 through 120 are hereby incorporated by reference as if rewritten in 

their entirety. 

122. Defendants may not take Gulfstream’s property without just compensation. 

123. This inverse condemnation claim includes an “England Reservation” of 

Gulfstream’s right to bring a subsequent federal takings claim in Federal Court. 

124. Defendants engaged in affirmative action by advocating for and/or approving a 

zoning amendment that will result in construction of a building that will catastrophically 

undermine Gulfstream’s property rights. 

125. Defendants’ conduct amounts to a taking of Gulfstream’s property without just 

compensation. 

126. Gulfstream is entitled to just compensation for the taking of its property. 

COUNT VIII 
ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

127. Paragraphs 1 through 126 are hereby incorporated by reference as if rewritten in 

their entirety. 

128. Gulfstream is entitled to its attorneys’ fees pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1988 as a result 

of the actions alleged herein. 

WHEREFORE, Gulfstream prays for the following relief: 

(a) Declaratory judgment in favor of Gulfstream that approval of Palmetto’s 

application for major amendment is null and void and of no effect; 

(b) Award Gulfstream compensation for taking of its property rights; 

(c) Award Gulfstream compensatory damages for the violations of its civil rights; 

(d) Award Gulfstream its reasonable costs and attorney’s fees incurred in bringing this 

action; 

(e) For such other and further relief as this Court deems just, proper, and appropriate 

under the facts and evidence presented; and  
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(f) Trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

s/ Sean M. Foerster  
Sean M. Foerster (SC Bar # 77466) 
ROGERS TOWNSEND & THOMAS, PC 
1221 Main Street, 14th Floor (29201) 
Post Office Box 100200 
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-3200 
(803) 771-7900 Tel 
(803) 343-7017 Fax 
sean.foerster@rtt-law.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff The Gulfstream Café, Inc. 
March 8, 2019 
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9. SEE MECHANICAL DWGS FOR KITCHEN HOOD INFORMATION.

10. VERIFY FAN MOUNTING INSTALLATION WITH MANUFACTURER.

11. PROVIDE BLOCKING AS REQUIRED FOR ACCESSORIES.

12. SEE ELECTRICAL AND MECHANICAL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.
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GENERAL NOTES:

1. EXTERIOR DIMENSIONS ARE TAKEN FROM EXTERIOR FACE OF SHEATHING AND INTERIOR DIMENSIONS ARE TAKEN FROM
FACE OF STUD UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS NOTED "CLEAR" ARE TO FACE OF FINISHED WALL SURFACE UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

3. DOORS AND WINDOWS ARE DIMENSIONED TO CENTERS. WALL OPENINGS ARE DIMENSIONED TO FACE OF STUD UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED.

4. BRING ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE ATTENTION OF THE DESIGNER BEFORE  BEGINNING WORK.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD CONFIRM AND CONFORM WITH ALL BUILDING CODE AND ZONING REQUIREMENTS WITH
RESPECT TO THESE PLANS. ALL BUILDING CODE AND ZONING REQUIREMENTS TO BE CONFIRMED BEFORE  STARTING ANY
WORK.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD VERIFY ALL HANDRAIL CONFIGURATIONS AND COMPLIANCE WITH CODE.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL EXISTING FIELD CONDITIONS AND COORDINATE WITH THE ARCHITECT.

8. COORDINATE ALL KITCHEN EQUIPMENT PER KITCHEN CONSULTANT DRAWINGS.

9. SEE MECHANICAL DWGS FOR KITCHEN HOOD INFORMATION.

10. VERIFY FAN MOUNTING INSTALLATION WITH MANUFACTURER.

11. PROVIDE BLOCKING AS REQUIRED FOR ACCESSORIES.

12. SEE ELECTRICAL AND MECHANICAL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.
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GENERAL NOTES:

1. EXTERIOR DIMENSIONS ARE TAKEN FROM EXTERIOR FACE OF SHEATHING AND INTERIOR DIMENSIONS ARE TAKEN FROM
FACE OF STUD UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS NOTED "CLEAR" ARE TO FACE OF FINISHED WALL SURFACE UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

3. DOORS AND WINDOWS ARE DIMENSIONED TO CENTERS. WALL OPENINGS ARE DIMENSIONED TO FACE OF STUD UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED.

4. BRING ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE ATTENTION OF THE DESIGNER BEFORE  BEGINNING WORK.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD CONFIRM AND CONFORM WITH ALL BUILDING CODE AND ZONING REQUIREMENTS WITH
RESPECT TO THESE PLANS. ALL BUILDING CODE AND ZONING REQUIREMENTS TO BE CONFIRMED BEFORE  STARTING ANY
WORK.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD VERIFY ALL HANDRAIL CONFIGURATIONS AND COMPLIANCE WITH CODE.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL EXISTING FIELD CONDITIONS AND COORDINATE WITH THE ARCHITECT.

8. COORDINATE ALL KITCHEN EQUIPMENT PER KITCHEN CONSULTANT DRAWINGS.

9. SEE MECHANICAL DWGS FOR KITCHEN HOOD INFORMATION.

10. VERIFY FAN MOUNTING INSTALLATION WITH MANUFACTURER.

11. PROVIDE BLOCKING AS REQUIRED FOR ACCESSORIES.

12. SEE ELECTRICAL AND MECHANICAL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.
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GENERAL NOTES:

1. EXTERIOR DIMENSIONS ARE TAKEN FROM EXTERIOR FACE OF SHEATHING AND INTERIOR DIMENSIONS ARE TAKEN FROM
FACE OF STUD UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS NOTED "CLEAR" ARE TO FACE OF FINISHED WALL SURFACE UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

3. DOORS AND WINDOWS ARE DIMENSIONED TO CENTERS. WALL OPENINGS ARE DIMENSIONED TO FACE OF STUD UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED.

4. BRING ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE ATTENTION OF THE DESIGNER BEFORE  BEGINNING WORK.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD CONFIRM AND CONFORM WITH ALL BUILDING CODE AND ZONING REQUIREMENTS WITH
RESPECT TO THESE PLANS. ALL BUILDING CODE AND ZONING REQUIREMENTS TO BE CONFIRMED BEFORE  STARTING ANY
WORK.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD VERIFY ALL HANDRAIL CONFIGURATIONS AND COMPLIANCE WITH CODE.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL EXISTING FIELD CONDITIONS AND COORDINATE WITH THE ARCHITECT.

8. COORDINATE ALL KITCHEN EQUIPMENT PER KITCHEN CONSULTANT DRAWINGS.

9. SEE MECHANICAL DWGS FOR KITCHEN HOOD INFORMATION.

10. VERIFY FAN MOUNTING INSTALLATION WITH MANUFACTURER.

11. PROVIDE BLOCKING AS REQUIRED FOR ACCESSORIES.

12. SEE ELECTRICAL AND MECHANICAL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.
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ROOF PLAN KEY NOTES:

ROOF HATCH 30"X36", SEE SPECIFICATIONS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

PLATFORM, WALKWAY

PLATFORM

 AHU, SEE MECHANICAL DRAWINGS.

GUARD RAIL AT LOW ROOF, SEE DETAIL 2/A351

ROOF TOP UNITS, SEE MECHANICAL DRAWINGS.
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COORDINATION LOCATION WITH OWNER

LIGHTNING PROTECTION AS
PER ENGINEERING DRAWINGS

EXISTING ANTENNA RELOCATED FROM
EXISTING BUILDING, COORDINATE WITH OWNER

STANDING SEAM METAL PANEL ROOF

STANDING SEAM METAL PANEL ROOF, TYP.

ANDERSEN PICTURE (FIXED) WINDOWS
OR EQUAL, REFER TO WINDOW SCHEDULE

HARDIESHINGLE SIDING -
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18' - 10"

4"

1'-0"

6'
 - 

8"

C L

GENERAL NOTES:

1. EXTERIOR DIMENSIONS ARE TAKEN FROM EXTERIOR FACE OF SHEATHING AND INTERIOR DIMENSIONS ARE TAKEN FROM
FACE OF STUD UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS NOTED "CLEAR" ARE TO FACE OF FINISHED WALL SURFACE UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

3. DOORS AND WINDOWS ARE DIMENSIONED TO CENTERS. WALL OPENINGS ARE DIMENSIONED TO FACE OF STUD UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED.

4. BRING ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE ATTENTION OF THE DESIGNER BEFORE  BEGINNING WORK.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD CONFIRM AND CONFORM WITH ALL BUILDING CODE AND ZONING REQUIREMENTS WITH
RESPECT TO THESE PLANS. ALL BUILDING CODE AND ZONING REQUIREMENTS TO BE CONFIRMED BEFORE  STARTING ANY
WORK.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD VERIFY ALL HANDRAIL CONFIGURATIONS AND COMPLIANCE WITH CODE.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL EXISTING FIELD CONDITIONS AND COORDINATE WITH THE ARCHITECT.

8. COORDINATE ALL KITCHEN EQUIPMENT PER KITCHEN CONSULTANT DRAWINGS.

9. SEE MECHANICAL DWGS FOR KITCHEN HOOD INFORMATION.

10. VERIFY FAN MOUNTING INSTALLATION WITH MANUFACTURER.

11. PROVIDE BLOCKING AS REQUIRED FOR ACCESSORIES.

12. SEE ELECTRICAL AND MECHANICAL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.
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STANDING SEAM METAL
PANEL ROOF

ANDERSEN PICTURE (FIXED) WINDOWS
OR EQUAL, REFER TO WINDOW SCHEDULE

EXISTING ANTENNA RELOCATED
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COORDINATE WITH OWNER

LIGHTNING PROTECTION AS
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18' - 10"

EXHAUST FANS AS PER
ENGINEERING DWGS

GENERAL NOTES:

1. EXTERIOR DIMENSIONS ARE TAKEN FROM EXTERIOR FACE OF SHEATHING AND INTERIOR DIMENSIONS ARE TAKEN FROM
FACE OF STUD UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS NOTED "CLEAR" ARE TO FACE OF FINISHED WALL SURFACE UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

3. DOORS AND WINDOWS ARE DIMENSIONED TO CENTERS. WALL OPENINGS ARE DIMENSIONED TO FACE OF STUD UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED.

4. BRING ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE ATTENTION OF THE DESIGNER BEFORE  BEGINNING WORK.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD CONFIRM AND CONFORM WITH ALL BUILDING CODE AND ZONING REQUIREMENTS WITH
RESPECT TO THESE PLANS. ALL BUILDING CODE AND ZONING REQUIREMENTS TO BE CONFIRMED BEFORE  STARTING ANY
WORK.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD VERIFY ALL HANDRAIL CONFIGURATIONS AND COMPLIANCE WITH CODE.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL EXISTING FIELD CONDITIONS AND COORDINATE WITH THE ARCHITECT.

8. COORDINATE ALL KITCHEN EQUIPMENT PER KITCHEN CONSULTANT DRAWINGS.

9. SEE MECHANICAL DWGS FOR KITCHEN HOOD INFORMATION.

10. VERIFY FAN MOUNTING INSTALLATION WITH MANUFACTURER.

11. PROVIDE BLOCKING AS REQUIRED FOR ACCESSORIES.

12. SEE ELECTRICAL AND MECHANICAL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.
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STANDING SEAM METAL
PANEL ROOF

ANDERSEN PICTURE
(FIXED) WINDOWS OR EQUAL,
REFER TO WINDOW SCHEDULE

EXISTING ANTENNA RELOCATED
FROM EXISTING BUILDING,
COORDINATE WITH OWNER

LIGHTNING PROTECTION AS
PER ENGINEERING DWGS

HARDIEPANEL VERTICAL SIDING WITH
HARDIETRIM BATTEN BOARDS

HARDIEPANEL VERTICAL SIDING WITH
HARDIETRIM BATTEN BOARDS

HARDIETRIM

HARDIESHINGLE SIDING - STAGGERED EDGE PANEL

HARDIEPANEL VERTICAL SIDING WITH
HARDIETRIM BATTEN BOARDS

HARDIETRIM, TYP.
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 - 
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STANDING SEAM METAL
PANEL ROOF

ANDERSEN WINDOWS OR EQUAL, TYP.
REFER TO WINDOW SCHEDULE

GROUND FLOOR
BEARING PLATE
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EXISTING SEA WALL CAP
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GENERAL NOTES:

1. EXTERIOR DIMENSIONS ARE TAKEN FROM EXTERIOR FACE OF SHEATHING AND INTERIOR DIMENSIONS ARE TAKEN FROM
FACE OF STUD UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS NOTED "CLEAR" ARE TO FACE OF FINISHED WALL SURFACE UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

3. DOORS AND WINDOWS ARE DIMENSIONED TO CENTERS. WALL OPENINGS ARE DIMENSIONED TO FACE OF STUD UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED.

4. BRING ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE ATTENTION OF THE DESIGNER BEFORE  BEGINNING WORK.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD CONFIRM AND CONFORM WITH ALL BUILDING CODE AND ZONING REQUIREMENTS WITH
RESPECT TO THESE PLANS. ALL BUILDING CODE AND ZONING REQUIREMENTS TO BE CONFIRMED BEFORE  STARTING ANY
WORK.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD VERIFY ALL HANDRAIL CONFIGURATIONS AND COMPLIANCE WITH CODE.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL EXISTING FIELD CONDITIONS AND COORDINATE WITH THE ARCHITECT.

8. COORDINATE ALL KITCHEN EQUIPMENT PER KITCHEN CONSULTANT DRAWINGS.

9. SEE MECHANICAL DWGS FOR KITCHEN HOOD INFORMATION.

10. VERIFY FAN MOUNTING INSTALLATION WITH MANUFACTURER.

11. PROVIDE BLOCKING AS REQUIRED FOR ACCESSORIES.

12. SEE ELECTRICAL AND MECHANICAL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.
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STANDING SEAM METAL
PANEL ROOF

ANDERSEN PICTURE
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EQUAL REFER TO
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EXISTING ANTENNA RELOCATED
FROM EXISTING BUILDING,
COORDINATE WITH OWNER

LIGHTNING PROTECTION AS
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ENGINEERING DWGS
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HARDIETRIM, TYP.

HARDIEPANEL VERTICAL
SIDING WITH HARDIETRIM
BATTEN BOARDS
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EQUAL, TYP. REFER TO
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GROUND FLOOR
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18' - 10"

EXISTING SEA WALL CAP
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GENERAL NOTES:
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FACE OF STUD UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS NOTED "CLEAR" ARE TO FACE OF FINISHED WALL SURFACE UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

3. DOORS AND WINDOWS ARE DIMENSIONED TO CENTERS. WALL OPENINGS ARE DIMENSIONED TO FACE OF STUD UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED.

4. BRING ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE ATTENTION OF THE DESIGNER BEFORE  BEGINNING WORK.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD CONFIRM AND CONFORM WITH ALL BUILDING CODE AND ZONING REQUIREMENTS WITH
RESPECT TO THESE PLANS. ALL BUILDING CODE AND ZONING REQUIREMENTS TO BE CONFIRMED BEFORE  STARTING ANY
WORK.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHOULD VERIFY ALL HANDRAIL CONFIGURATIONS AND COMPLIANCE WITH CODE.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL EXISTING FIELD CONDITIONS AND COORDINATE WITH THE ARCHITECT.

8. COORDINATE ALL KITCHEN EQUIPMENT PER KITCHEN CONSULTANT DRAWINGS.

9. SEE MECHANICAL DWGS FOR KITCHEN HOOD INFORMATION.

10. VERIFY FAN MOUNTING INSTALLATION WITH MANUFACTURER.

11. PROVIDE BLOCKING AS REQUIRED FOR ACCESSORIES.

12. SEE ELECTRICAL AND MECHANICAL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

Mechanical, Plumbing & Electrical

125 B  Wappoo Creek Dr.
Charleston, SC 29412

843-762-4242

Charleston Engineering

Scale

Date:
Drawn By:
Checked By:

Job Number:

Notes:

THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF ARCHITECTS
MEMBERS OF

COPYRIGHT 2016  ALL RIGHTS RESERVED
PRINTED OR ELECTRONIC DRAWINGS AND
DOCUMENTATION MAY NOT BE
REPRODUCEDIN ANY FORM WITHOUT
WRITTEN PERMISSION FROM SGA
ARCHITECTURE

of

Corporate Seal

Individual Seal

Revisions:

Owner:

Architect:

Pawleys Island / Charleston

S RAG IC H T E

245 Business Center Lane
PO Box 1859
Pawleys Island, SC 29585
Phone: (843) 237-3421
Fax:     (843) 237-1992
www.SGAarchitecture.com

Marlin Quay
Restaurant

&
Store

1508 S.Waccamaw Drive

Georgetown, South Carolina

C UT R E

Mechanical, Electrical & Plumbing:

Stuctural Engineer:

Permitting Documents

SET

Not For Construction

PERMIT

Civil Engineer:

H

G

F

E

D

C

B

A

4321 65

4321 65

PALMETTO INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT

1508 S. Waccamaw Drive
Garden City

South Carolina
29576

As indicated

A204

ELEVATIONS

HK
LH, HK

11/22/2016
16007

 3/16" = 1'-0"1 SIDE ELEVATION - FACING SOUTH

No.DescriptionDate

ELEC
TR

O
N

IC
ALLY FILED

 - 2019 M
ar 08 4:27 PM

 - G
EO

R
G

ETO
W

N
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 PLEAS - C

ASE#2019C
P2200212

Page 117



COUNTY_Century00002

ELEC
TR

O
N

IC
ALLY FILED

 - 2019 M
ar 08 4:27 PM

 - G
EO

R
G

ETO
W

N
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 PLEAS - C

ASE#2019C
P2200212

Page 118



COUNTY_Century00012

ELEC
TR

O
N

IC
ALLY FILED

 - 2019 M
ar 08 4:27 PM

 - G
EO

R
G

ETO
W

N
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 PLEAS - C

ASE#2019C
P2200212

Page 119



COUNTY_Century00043

ELEC
TR

O
N

IC
ALLY FILED

 - 2019 M
ar 08 4:27 PM

 - G
EO

R
G

ETO
W

N
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 PLEAS - C

ASE#2019C
P2200212

Page 120



COUNTY_Century00044

ELEC
TR

O
N

IC
ALLY FILED

 - 2019 M
ar 08 4:27 PM

 - G
EO

R
G

ETO
W

N
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 PLEAS - C

ASE#2019C
P2200212

Page 121



COUNTY_Century00045

ELEC
TR

O
N

IC
ALLY FILED

 - 2019 M
ar 08 4:27 PM

 - G
EO

R
G

ETO
W

N
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 PLEAS - C

ASE#2019C
P2200212

Page 122



COUNTY_Century00046

ELEC
TR

O
N

IC
ALLY FILED

 - 2019 M
ar 08 4:27 PM

 - G
EO

R
G

ETO
W

N
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 PLEAS - C

ASE#2019C
P2200212

Page 123



COUNTY_Century00047

ELEC
TR

O
N

IC
ALLY FILED

 - 2019 M
ar 08 4:27 PM

 - G
EO

R
G

ETO
W

N
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 PLEAS - C

ASE#2019C
P2200212

Page 124



COUNTY_Century00061

ELEC
TR

O
N

IC
ALLY FILED

 - 2019 M
ar 08 4:27 PM

 - G
EO

R
G

ETO
W

N
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 PLEAS - C

ASE#2019C
P2200212

Page 125



COUNTY_Century00063

ELEC
TR

O
N

IC
ALLY FILED

 - 2019 M
ar 08 4:27 PM

 - G
EO

R
G

ETO
W

N
 - C

O
M

M
O

N
 PLEAS - C

ASE#2019C
P2200212

Page 126



ELEC
TR

O
N

IC
ALLY FILED

 - 2018 Jul 27 12:07 PM
 - G

EO
R

G
ETO

W
N

 - C
O

M
M

O
N

 PLEAS - C
ASE#2016C

P2200961
ELEC

TR
O

N
IC

ALLY FILED
 - 2019 M

ar 08 4:27 PM
 - G

EO
R

G
ETO

W
N

 - C
O

M
M

O
N

 PLEAS - C
ASE#2019C

P2200212

Page 127



ELEC
TR

O
N

IC
ALLY FILED

 - 2018 Jul 27 12:07 PM
 - G

EO
R

G
ETO

W
N

 - C
O

M
M

O
N

 PLEAS - C
ASE#2016C

P2200961
ELEC

TR
O

N
IC

ALLY FILED
 - 2019 M

ar 08 4:27 PM
 - G

EO
R

G
ETO

W
N

 - C
O

M
M

O
N

 PLEAS - C
ASE#2019C

P2200212

Page 128



Georgetown Common Pleas

Case Caption: Gulfstream Cafe Inc  VS J Mark Lawhon  , defendant, et al

Case Number: 2016CP2200961

Type: Order/Amend

So Ordered

s/ Steven H. John, Resident Circuit Judge, #129

Electronically signed on 2018-07-27 11:49:15     page 3 of 3
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STORY
BUILDING AREA

OCCUPANCY
FIRST MERCANTILE
SECOND ASSEMBLY (A-2)
THIRD ASSEMBLY (A-2)

SEATING CAPACITY
SECOND FLOOR (RESTAURANT LEVEL 1)

TOTAL AREA:

DECK AREA
592 SF
747 SF 
1,721 SF

HEATED AREA UNHEATED AREA
1,801 SF
2,216 SF
579 SF

1,418 SF
1,164 SF
2,801 SF

3,060 SF 4,596 SF 5,383 SF 13,039 SF

TOTAL BUILDING AREA

55
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TOTAL 110
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CODES & EDITIONS: INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE 2015

CODE ITEM CODE REF. DESIGNATED AREAS OF BUILDING

RESTAURANT MARINA STORE   STORAGE
Occupancy Classification Chapter 3 A-2 M S-1
Construction Classification Chapter 6 Type VA, sprinklered Type VA, sprinklered   Type VA, sprinklered
Height (LinFt) Allowed Table 504.3 70'-0" 70'-0"   70'-0"
Height w/increase Allowed Chapter 5 - -   -
Height (LinFt) Actual 45'-0" at midpoint 45'-0" at midpoint  45'-0" at midpoint
Stories Above Grade Plane Allowed Table 504.4 3 4   4
Gross Area (Conditioned) Actual 2,294 + 347 (3rd) sf 1,955  sf   None conditoned, 850 unconditioned gsf
Exit Access Travel Distance Table 1017.2 250'-0", sprinklered 250'-0", sprinklered   250'-0", sprinklered

1. Per Table 504.3 Allowable Building Height in Feet Above Grade Plane - S = Buildings equipped throughout with an automatic sprinkler systems installed in
accordance with Section 903.3.1.1.

2. Per Section 508.3 Nonseperated occupancies - No separation is required between non-separated occupancies.

LEGEND:

ILLUMINATED EXIT SIGN - REFER TO ELECTRICAL

1 HOUR RATED WALL

2 HOUR RATED WALL

INCHES PER OCCUPANT
(Section 1005.3.1 -Stairways)

INCHES PER OCCUPANT
(Section 1005.3.2 - Other 
egress components)

TOTAL OCCUPANT
LOAD

REQUIRED INCHES ACTUAL INCHESINCHES PER
OCCUPANT 
REQUIRED

0.2"

0.15"

360

360

72"

54"

88"

108.00"
(per floor)

1. Per Section 1005.3.1 Stairways - The capacity of means of egress stairways shall be calculated by multiplying the occupant load by a means of egress capacity  factor of 0.2 inch per occupant in
buildings equipped throughout with an automatic sprinkler system.

2. Per Section 1005.3.2 Other egress components - The capacity of means of egress components other than stairways shall be calculated by multiplying the occupant load by a means of egress capacity
factor of 0.15 inch per occupant in buildings equipped throughout with an automatic sprinkler system.

MEANS OF EGRESS 
SIZING

PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER FOR ORDINARY (Moderate) HAZARD OCCUPANCY (CHAPTER 9)

FIRE HAZARD MIN. RATED MAX. FLOOR MAX. TRAVEL NOTES
CLASS EXTINGUISHER COVERAGE AREA DISTANCE

PFE-1 CLASS A 2-A 3,000 sf 75' Ordinary (Moderate) Hazard Occupancy
PFE-2 CLASS K 20-B:C - 30' Section 906.4 - Cooking grease fires

BUILDING AREA PER STORY

ACTUAL STORY/ OCCUPANCY NO. STORIES ALLOWED AREA ALLOWED ACTUAL AREA ACTUAL CONDITIONED AREA

1 / MERCANTILE 5 61,500 SF 1,955 SF 1,955 SF
1/UNHEATED CIRCULATION DECK 5 61,500 SF  256 SF

2/ ASSEMBLY (HEATED) 4 45,000 SF 2,294 SF 2,294 SF
2&3/ASSEMBLY (UNHEATED -BALCONIES) 4 45,000 SF 2,060 SF
3/ASSEMBLY (UNHEATED ROOFDECK/BAR/CIR) 4 45,000 SF    912 SF

1/STORAGE (HEATED) 5 76,500 SF  171 SF   347 SF
 (area calc included in Mercantile as accessory, above)
3/STORAGE (UNHEATED) 5 76,000 SF    850 SF
(DOES NOT INCLUDE STAIRS AND ELEVATOR)

TOTAL AREA: 4,596 SF

OCCUPANCY LOAD CALCULATIONS (IBC CHAPTER 10)

AREA USED FOR EGRESS COUNT
SF/OCCUPANT (TABLE 1004.1.2)

STORY/ LEVEL FUNCTION OF SPACE FLOOR AREA MAX AREA OCCUPANTS DESIGN OCCUPANT
(NSF or GSF) ALLOWED PER ON FLOOR FOR LOAD

(NSF or GSF) THIS FUNCTION

MERCANTILE 1,400 GSF 60 GSF 23 OCC

BUSINESS (ACCESSORY OFFICE)    165 GSF 100 GSF   2 OCC

1 ACCESSORY STORAGE    171 GSF 300 GSF   1 OCC

ACCESSORY SHOWER/TOILET    161 GSF 100 GSF   2 OCC

SUBTOTAL DESIGN OCCUPANT LOAD FOR THIS STORY 28 OCC 28 OCC

ASSEMBLY -RESTAURANT    487 NSF 15 NSF 33 OCC

ASSEMBLY- BAR    416 NSF 7 NSF 60 OCC

2 ASSEMBLY - HOSTESS  103 NSF 15 NSF   7 OCC

ASSEMBLY -KITCHEN    688 GSF 200 NSF   4 OCC

ASSEMBLY - ACCESSORY    419 GSF 100 GSF   4 OCC

ASSEMBLY - BALCONY    992 NSF 15 NSF 66 OCC

SUBTOTAL DESIGN OCCUPANT LOAD FOR THIS STORY 174 OCC 174 OCC

ASSEMBLY - BALCONY /DECK 1,711 NSF 15 NSF 115 OCC

ASSEMBLY - BAR    269 NSF 7 NSF   39 OCC

3 ASSEMBLY - ACCESSORY   91 GSF 100 GSF  1 OCC

STORAGE    850 GSF 300 GSF    3 OCC

SUBTOTAL DESIGN OCCUPANT LOAD FOR THIS STORY 158 OCC 158 OCC

TOTAL BUILDING DESIGN OCCUPANT LOAD: 360 OCC 360 OCC

1. Occupant load table above is based on IBC 2015 requirements for Life Safety.   See Site Plan for occupancy count based on local jurisdiction parking requirements.
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1 
1958354v1 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF GEORGETOWN 
 
 
The Gulfstream Café, Inc., 
 
                        Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
Georgetown County, Georgetown County 
Council, John Thomas, Ron Charlton, Lillie 
Johnson, Austin Beard, Steve Goggans, and 
Louis Morant, individually and in their 
official capacity as Georgetown County 
Councilmembers, 
 
                         Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
 
 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
 

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS 
FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
CIVIL ACTION NO. 2019-CP-22-00212 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 Defendants Georgetown County, Georgetown County Council, John Thomas, Ron 

Charlton, Lillie Johnson, Austin Beard, Steve Goggans, and Louis Morant, individually and in 

their capacity as Georgetown County Councilmembers, (collectively, “Defendants”), answering 

the Complaint, without waiving, and specifically reserving, their Motion to Dismiss Counts II, III, 

IV, V, and VIII of the Complaint submitted prior to this Answer, would respectfully show and 

alleged unto this Honorable Court as follows:  

FIRST DEFENSE 

1. Each and every allegation not hereinafter admitted, modified, or qualified is denied.  

2. The allegations of Paragraphs 1, 2, 3, and 4 are denied.   

3. The allegations of Paragraph 5 are admitted. 

4. The allegations of Paragraphs 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, and 14 are denied. 

5. The allegations of Paragraphs 15 and 16 are admitted.  

 
DEFENDANTS’ ANSWER  

(Jury Trial Demanded) 
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6. The allegations of Paragraph 17 are denied.  

7. The allegations of Paragraph 18 are admitted.  

8. The allegations of Paragraphs 19. 20, and 21 are denied. 

9. In answering Paragraphs 22, 23, and 24, the terms and conditions of any easements 

granted to Plaintiff are set forth in said easements and are governed by applicable South Carolina 

law.  

10. The allegations of Paragraphs 25, 26, 27, 28, and 29 are denied.  

11. In answering Paragraph 30, it is admitted that Palmetto submitted an application 

for a major amendment. The remaining allegations are denied.  

12. The allegations of Paragraph 31 are denied.  

13. Defendants lack sufficient knowledge or information to form a belief as to the truth 

of the allegations in Paragraphs 32 and 33 and therefore deny the same.  

14. In answering Paragraph 34, it is admitted that Palmetto submitted an application 

for a major amendment. The remaining allegations are denied.  

15. The allegations of Paragraphs 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, and 47 

are denied.  

16. The allegations of Paragraph 48 are admitted.  

17. The allegations of Paragraphs 49 and 50 are denied.  

18. The allegations of Paragraph 51 are admitted.  

19. The allegations of Paragraphs 52, 53, 54, 55, and 56 are denied.  

20. The allegations of Paragraph 57 are admitted.  

21. The allegations of Paragraphs 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, and 

71 are denied.  
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22. In answering Paragraph 72, it is admitted Palmetto submitted an application for a 

major amendment. The remaining allegations are denied.  

23. The allegations of Paragraphs 73, 74, 75, 76, 77, and 78 are denied.  

24. In answering Paragraph 79, it is admitted that Article I, Section 3 of the South 

Carolina Constitution contains the quoted language. The remaining allegations are denied.  

25. The allegations of Paragraphs 80, 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 87, 88, 89, 90, 91, 92, 93, and 

94 are denied.  

26. In answering Paragraph 86, Defendants crave reference to the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution and deny all allegations inconsistent therewith.  

27. In answering Paragraph 95, it is admitted that Article I, Section 3 of the South 

Carolina Constitution contains the quoted language. The remaining allegations are denied.  

28. The allegations of Paragraphs 96, 97, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 103, 104, 106, 107, 

108, 109, 110, 111, 112, 113, 114, and 115 are denied.  

29. In answering Paragraph 105, Defendants crave reference to the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution and deny all allegations inconsistent therewith 

30. In answering Paragraph 116, it is admitted that Article I, Section 3 of the South 

Carolina Constitution contains the quoted language. The remaining allegations are denied.  

31. The allegations of Paragraphs 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 122, 123, 124, 125, 126, 

127, and 128 are denied.  

32. To the extent a response is required to the WHEREFORE paragraph (prayer for 

relief), or any of its subparts, the same are denied.  
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SECOND DEFENSE 
 

33. The allegations of the First Defense are incorporated herein by reference and made 

a part and parcel hereof.  

34. Defendants incorporate by reference all arguments asserted in their Memorandum 

in Support of their Motion to Dismiss into this Answer as affirmative defenses.  

THIRD DEFENSE 
 

35. The allegations of the First and Second Defense are incorporated herein by 

reference and made a part and parcel hereof. 

36. Gulfstream’s claims are barred, in whole or in part, under the doctrine of unclean 

hands.  

FOURTH DEFENSE 
 

37. The allegations of First, Second, and Third Defense are incorporated herein by 

reference and made a part and parcel hereof.  

38. Gulfstream does not have a property interest in the Amended Ordinance and lacks 

a right to pursue any and all claims against Defendants.  

FIFTH DEFENSE 
 

39. The allegations of the First, Second, Third, and Fourth Defense are incorporated 

herein by reference and made a part and parcel hereof.  

40. Gulfstream’s Section 1983 causes of action fail against Defendants because they 

are entitled to qualified immunity.  

SIXTH DEFENSE 
 

41. The allegations of the First, Second, Third, Fourth, and Fifth Defense are 

incorporated herein by reference and made a part and parcel hereof.  
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42. Gulfstream’s claims are barred for failing to exhaust all administrative remedies.  

SEVENTH DEFENSE 
 

43. The allegations of the First, Second, Third, Fourth, Fifth, and Sixth Defense are 

incorporated herein by reference and made a part and parcel hereof.  

44. The claims asserted against Defendants are barred, in whole or in part, for failure 

to prove damages as a result of the allegations asserted.  

EIGHTH DEFENSE 

45. The allegations of the First, Second, Third, Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, and Seventh 

Defense are incorporated herein by reference and made a part and parcel hereof. 

46. The Defendants assert that any recovery is barred, in whole or in part, as a result of 

the doctrine of election of remedies. The Plaintiff seeks duplicate remedies under multiple causes 

of action that would result in double recovery.  

WHEREFORE, having fully answered Gulfstream’s Complaint, Defendants pray that 

Gulfstream’s Complaint be dismissed in its entirety with prejudice, and for such other and further 

relief as this Court deems just and proper.  

BURR & FORMAN LLP 
 
   s/Henrietta U. Golding   
Henrietta U. Golding, SC Bar #2173 
2411 N. Oak Street, Suite 206 (29577) 
Post Office Box 336 
Myrtle Beach, SC 29578-0336 
Ph: 843.444.1107 
Fax: 843.443.9137 
Email: hgolding@burr.com 
Attorney for the Defendants 

 
Myrtle Beach, South Carolina 
 
April 11, 2019 
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